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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Columbia Arsenal, built by the United States government c.1890, is known
today as the Columbia Military Academy. The original arsenal site is located

on West Seventh street in Columbia, Tennessee. The main entrance is adjacent

to the L&N Railroad crossing, at the northeast corner. Other entrances and

the various pedestrian gates are connected to walkways which traverse the
parklike landscape of the academy. The original arsenal site consists of

a 67 acre tract of land encompassed by a stone and masonry wall topped by

iron pickets and featuring iron gates. The same gate and fence are in use today.

The most visually identifiable characteristics of the site are the nine
original arsenal buildings. Four of these buildings were built of Bowling
Green stone. These buildings are located on the main drive adjacent to the
main entrance. The five remaining original buildings are constructed of
brick. They are located behind the main buildings and at various points
where the main drive makes a circuit through the property. Additional
buildings and utility buildings built to accommodate the academy include the
new residence halls, classroom buildings and athletic facilities built

after the 1940s. The academy has a football stadium, baseball field and
several tennis courts for outdoor sports activities.

The nine historic buildings built to accommodate the Columbia Arsenal have

been adapted to various uses. Major alterations have consisted of various
attempts to reorganize the interior plan. Basic room lay-outs have changed
from time to time. The structural plan and the authentic architectural features
of the exteriors have remained unchanged. The four main buildings constructed
of rusticated Bowling Green stone have not been altered and these buildings are
distinctly recognizable in early photographs of the school.

The Arsenal Guard House is located at the main entrance. Constructed of Bowling
Green stone, the picturesque architecture is characteristic of the popular

romantic styles of the late nineteenth century, medieval revival. The building
is in its original form and it serves as headquarters for the officer of the day.

The old Arsenal (Main building) is the largest building in the complex.
Constructed of Bowling Green stone, it is approximately 192 feet long and
82 feet wide in the center section. At one time, the third floor was used
for an indoor drill field. Administrative offices, classrooms and the main
dining room are located in this building today.

Two of the most outstanding buildings in the complex are located on the

main drive, above Seventh street. Ragsdale Alumni Hall and Academy Hall

are constructed of rusticated Bowling Green stone masonry and the architectural
designs for these two structures are typical of the late nineteenth century
Victorian styles. Featuring wide veranda style porches, stained glass lights

and other refinements,both of these structures remain unchanged as they appear
today. Ragsdale Hall is currently being used as the alumni center. The

larger of the two buildings, Academy Hall, was formerly known as the junior school,
and at various times it has houses upper classmen, the commandant and faculty
members. Due to the hillside characteristics of the lot, both buildings have

open basements across the back elevations. Documented in various early photographs
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and yearbooks, the architectural characteristics are original. The cast
iron fountain located at the northwest corner of the drive is original
and it has been photographed in the various records of the school.

Black Hall is the largest of the original brick buildings. Located behind the
main building, it is one of the original arsenal buildings. The design for

the building is in keeping with the classical vernacular style of late Georgian
architecture in Tennessee. The two story structure consists of eleven symmetri-
cally spaced bays across the front and it is three bays wide at the end wall
elevations. Pediment style porches have been erected at the central main
entrance and at each of the end wall entrances.

Moore Hall is built of brick manufactured in Columbia for the arsenal. Stone
for the foundation wall was cut from the Lynnville Quarries. This structure
housed faculty apartments. It is designed in the late Georgian or classical
style often seen in Tennessee. A two story building, it features a hip roof
and central entrance fronted by a full length veranda style porch. Whitthorne
Hall was originally the stable. The brick structure has a second story added
after the arsenal became the academy. The rectangular shape and gable style
roof are adaptable to the vernacular style of the other brick buildings.

Frierson Hall is typical of the two and one-half-story late Georgian style
architecture. The structure, built of locally made brick, features a balus-
traded two-story veranda style porch, central hall and full basement which

is open across the rear elevation due to the placement of the building on the
lot. This building is currently used for faculty apartments and homes.
Robert E. Lee Hall once housed the Academy swimming pool. Converted for use
as a residence, it is the home of the Commandant.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Columbia Arsenal was authorized by an Act introduced and sponsored
by Congressman W. C. Whitthorne of Tennessee. The act was signed by
President Cleveland in 1888.

There are twenty original military arsenals located in the United States
and built before the 1890s. Of this number, four of the original arsenals
are located in the southern states and three of the original twenty remain
active today.

The Columbia Arsenal was built between 1890-1891. Nine original buildings
including quarters and extensive storerooms for munitions and war magazines,
shops for the repair and manufacturing of munitions, and other military items
were erected within the original 67 acre tract of land designated for the
Columbia Arsenal.

Colonel T. T. Wright of Nashville is noted for his special interest in pro-
moting the building of the arsenal in Tennessee. Acting as a sponsor for
its creation, Colonel Wright spurred local interest which resulted in the
donation and adoption of tracts of land located in the 9th Civil District
of Maury County, which amounted to the sum of $15,250 for its establishment.

The arsenal was constructed during the Benjamin Harrison administration.
Major Comley of the Ordinance Bureau was assigned to supervise the con-
struction work. The laying of the cornerstone of the main structure was
a celebrated event attended by the governor of Tennessee, Bob Taylor, and
invited guests and officials representing the south central states.

Frank Goodwin was awarded the $175,000 government contract to build the
arsenal. He contracted with the Lynnville Quarries at HurricaneSwitch

for rock used to build the buildings' foundations. Bowling Green

Quarries supplied rusticated stone for the four main buildings of the
arsenal and five additional buildings were constructed of brick manufactured
on Mt. Pleasant Pike by the Frank Farrell brickyard. The original 67 acre
tract was fenced by the contractor as the arsenal buildings were constructed.
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During the 1890s the entire manufacturing facilities were moved from
Columbia to the Jeffersonville Depot, Jeffersonville, Indiana. The
Columbia Arsenal was used as training quarters for Spanish-American

War troops during the Benjamin Harrison administration. This activity
ceased in 1902, and after the war, the arsenal was declared surplus
government property. The facility was eventually reopened, c. 1904-
1905, as the Columbia Military Academy, a college preparatory school for
boarding students.

The historic Columbia Arsenal is currently owned by a board of trustees
and leased to a second board of trustees for the operation of the Academy.
According to the current catalog, the school offers a program for day
students and boarding students with ROTC training, grades 9-12. During
the seventy year history of the academy there have been many graduates
who have excelled in their careers. Graduates of the academy include
Congressman (Captain) William R. Anderson, Commander of the Nautilus,
General Hugh Pate Harris and Medal of Honor Winner, Congressman Nathan

G. Gordon.

Columbia, Tennessee, attained national recognition with the building of

the arsenal in 1890. The Columbia Military Academy is a community landmark.
Additional facilities built to accommodate the school are all located within
the original 67 acres. Subsequent additions and fadilities for the school
have had minimal effect on the visual identity of the arsenal complex and
the nineteenth century landscape. Time has had little effect on the historic
architectural integrity of the nine original arsenal buildings. Early
yearbooks and photographs serve as an accurate record, representing each

era of the military history and more recent educational history of the
Columbia Military Academy.

INVENTORY: HISTORIC STRUCTURES
1) Guard House c.1891

Picturesque, original guard house of the Columbia Arsenal and gate house
for the Columbia Military Academy. Built of Bowling Green stone by the
U.S. Corps of Engineers, under the supervision of Major Comley of the
Ordinance Bureau. One story, coursed stone masonry bearing wall, portico
entrance, stone chimney and full basement half exposed. Features include
slit style windows of medieval type.
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2) Main Building c.1891

The original arsenal building, served as the "assembly building" and
subsequently as the "main" building for the Columbia Military Academy,
1904. Large three story structure, full basement, rectangular shape,
Bowling Green stone masonry bearing walls and foundation materials
from Lynville quarries.

3) Ragsdale Alumni Hall c.1891

An original building of the Columbia Arsenal Complex. Bowling Green stone
masonry bearing walls, two story with open basement at rear. A wide
veranda porch encircles the first, main story.

4) Academy Hall c.1891

An original building of the Columbia Arsenal Complex. Impressive, three
story, stone and masonry structure. Rassed basement and asymmetric plan
features Romanesque elements in its design, including the handsome Roman
arch at the main entrance which features carved wood panels and stained
glass-lights as door enframements.

5) 01d Fountain c.1904

Cast iron basins and assembly with decorative cast iron rim. The fountain
is featured in Columbia Military Academy yearbooks.

6) Moore Hall c.1891

An original building of the Columbia Arsenal Complex. Built of brick
manufactured for the arsenal by Frank Farrell on the 0ld Mt. Pleasant
Pike. Stone for foundations came from the Lynville Quarries. Two story,
hip roof, Georgian Revival Style with one story, full length veranda style
porch, central entrance and doorway enframed by rectangular shape transome
and side lights. Boxed eaves and corbel brick cornice detail.
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7) Robert E. Lee Hall c.1891

An original building of the Columbia Arsenal complex. This building once
housed the Columbia Military Academy swimming pool. Two story, hip roof
with stone foundation walls. Subsequent alterations, undetermined.

8) Frierson Hall c.1891

Originally built as part of the Columbia Arsenal this two and one-half story,
Georgian Revival style structure features a two story veranda style porch
across the front and traditional Georgian style.

9) Whitthorne Hall c.1891

Built as a stable for the Columbia Arsenal, the second story addition resulted
as the structure was equipped for new use as a dormitory. Two story, brick,
gable roof and chimney at the end wall. Features Georgian style arch

window enframement, brick flat jack arch and recessed, double hung sash

type windows. 6/6 light.

10) Black Hall c.1891

Built as one of the original arsenal buildings this two story brick structure
features horizontal and vertical symmetry, 11 x 5 bay spacing, gable roof,
Georgian type windows and attached wood portico porch at the centered, main
entrance.

INVENTORY OF NON-HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES

1. Quadrangle

2. Steam plant

3. Science Building and Recreation Hall
4, Johnson Hall

5. Denham Hall (Junior School)
6. Football Stadium complex

7. Hospital building

8. Baseball field complex

9. Main Gym and Pool
10. Little Gym
11. Band Hut
12. Jackson Hall
13. Military Displays

14. Garages

15. Tennis courts and facilities
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11. Quadrangle - Four strips of pavement used for military formations by companies
12. Steam plant - Operational structure located to the east side of Black Hall

13. Science Building and Recreation Hall - Built ca. 1960 for the high school
science building, this two story brick structure houses the academy's
recreational facilities and band hall.

14. Johnson Hall =~ Ca. 1940, this bullding has four faculty apartments on the
first and second story-

15. Denham Hall - Built for the junior school, this two-story, brick building has
a new addition attached to the west end erected in 1968.

16. Football Stadium - Built in the 1920s and '30s, this outdoor stadium facility
includes a press box and bench-type bleachers placed on grass banks on either
side of the track and field.

17. Hospital - This one story building is used for the student infirmary.

18. Baseball field and Soccer field - Built ca. 1920-30, this outdoor facility
is located to the west side of the main drive and south of the main gym.
The facility includes a grandstand for visitors; the soccer field was added
in 1960.

19. Main Gym and Pool - This building, ca. 1940, includes an indoor pool located
on the lower floor.

20. Little Gym - The annex for the main gym, built in the '50s, is located to the
west side of the main gym and is used primarily for wrestling.

21. Band Hut - This one-story frame building is currently used as a facility for
the drama department. A large fireplace is located on the south elevation.

22, Jackson Hall - Built in several phases beginning in the 1940s, this building
is. currently used as a dormitory.

23. Military Display - The outdoor displays of military cannons, aircraft, vehicular
arms, and military equipment are mounted on concrete pads adjacent to the
main building.

24. Garages - Garages and storage facilities are located adjacent to the various
buildings and are contemporary in design.

25. Tennis Courts - There are seven outddor tennis courts which include three
basketball courts; these are located in each region of the campus.
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